STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 22 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Spartanburg County  
Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Number 2013-002309

\_\_\_\_\_  
State v. Moore, 404 S.C. 634, 746 S.E.2d 352 (Ct. App. 2013)

The State,

Petitioner,

v.

Ashley Eugene Moore,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARY WILLIAMS LEDDON  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar Number 76192  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

JOSHUA L. THOMAS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar Number 100777

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE

### I.

The Court of Appeals erred in reversing Respondent's convictions and sentences because it misapplied the standard of review used in Fourth Amendment cases and misapplied the totality of the circumstances test used in search and seizure cases. The officer's decision to extend the scope and duration of the traffic stop was reasonable and justified under the totality of the circumstances based on the existence of multiple factors establishing a reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Procedural History

On October 22, 2010, a Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Respondent for trafficking cocaine base and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.

On April 25, 2011, Respondent proceeded to trial before a jury. Robert Hall represented Respondent, and Assistant Solicitor Eddie Hunter represented the State. The jury found Respondent guilty as charged.

Thereafter, the Honorable Roger L. Couch sentenced Respondent to twenty-five years of imprisonment for the trafficking cocaine base conviction and five years of imprisonment for the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime conviction. Judge Couch ran the sentences concurrently.

On April 27, 2011, Respondent served a timely notice of intent to appeal. On April 2, 2013, the Court of Appeals heard oral argument on this matter. On July 17, 2013, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion in which it reversed Respondent's convictions and sentences. State v. Moore, 404 S.C. 634, 746 S.E.2d 352 (Ct. App. 2013). On July 29, 2013, the State served a petition for rehearing *en banc*. On September 27, 2013, the Court of Appeals denied the State's petition for rehearing *en banc*. The State's Petition for Writ of Certiorari was granted by this Court on November 20, 2014.<sup>1</sup>

### Factual History

On June 30, 2010, at approximately 1:10 a.m., Officer Dale Owens and Corporal Ken Hancock observed Respondent driving on Interstate 85 ("I-85") above the posted

---

<sup>1</sup> The Petition for Writ of Certiorari in this case was written and submitted by former Assistant Attorney General Julie Kate Keeney. This Brief of Petitioner is drawn therefrom.

speed limit. (R. pp. 8-9.) In addition, Respondent failed to maintain his lane. (R. p. 9.) When Officer Owens first observed Respondent, Respondent was driving in the far right hand lane. (R. p. 14.) However, Respondent eventually moved to the center lane. (R. p. 14.) When Officer Owens turned his blue lights on to pull Respondent over for the traffic violations, Respondent turned on his left turn signal. (R. pp. 14-15.) Respondent eventually turned on his right turn signal; however, according to Officer Owens, it took Respondent longer than the average time to pull over and come to a stop. (R. p. 15.) In Officer Owens' training and experience, it appeared to him that Respondent was preparing to flee. (R. pp. 15-16.)

After Respondent pulled over, Respondent failed to turn off his right hand turn signal, which, according to Officer Owens, was indicative of criminal behavior. (R. p. 17.) When Officer Owens approached Respondent's vehicle, Respondent was talking on the phone. (R. p. 19.) Officer Owens had to tell Respondent to hang up the phone. Officer Owens testified that, in his experience, most innocent people hang up the phone when they get pulled over. (R. pp. 19-21.) However, drug traffickers often have to answer to a higher person. (R. p. 19.) In some drug trafficking cases, when a drug trafficker gets pulled over, he or she will leave the phone on so the person he or she answers to can hear what is happening during the stop. Sometimes, the drug trafficker will leave the phone on so in case he or she decides to flee, the person the drug trafficker answers to will know where the drug trafficker is located. (R. p. 19.)

When Officer Owens approached Respondent's vehicle, Officer Owens smelled alcohol coming from inside the vehicle. (R. p. 21.) Officer Owens gave a signal to Corporal Hancock indicating that he smelled alcohol. In Officer Owens' training and

experience, people who traffic drugs will often drink alcohol in order to calm their nerves. (R. pp. 21-22.)

Officer Owens asked Respondent for Respondent's driver's license and registration. (R. p. 24.) Respondent informed Officer Owens that the car he was driving was a rental car. (R. p. 24.) Respondent provided the rental agreement and his driver's license. Officer Owens noticed that Respondent's hand was shaking heavily. (R. p. 24.) In Officer Owens' report, he noted that Respondent was overly nervous. (R. p. 24.) Additionally, Respondent's breathing was accelerated, and the pulse in his neck appeared to be elevated and pounding. (R. p. 24.)

Moreover, Respondent admitted he had been drinking. (R. p. 25.) At that point, Officer Owens asked Respondent to exit the vehicle. As Respondent exited his vehicle, he tried to pick up his cell phone, which indicated to Officer Owens that Respondent might try to flee. (R. p. 26.) When Respondent exited the vehicle, he started walking towards Officer Owens' patrol car; however, Respondent left the door to his rental car open. (R. pp. 25-26.) Respondent started smoking a cigarette, which indicated to Officer Owens that Respondent was trying to calm his nerves. (R. p. 27.)

Thereafter, Respondent consented to a pat down search. (R. pp. 27-28.) Respondent raised his hands in the air even though the officers did not ask him to raise his hands. (R. p. 28.) Officer Owens felt like what he perceived to be a large sum of wadded money in Respondent's pocket. (R. pp. 28-29.) Corporal Hancock took the wad of money out of Respondent's pocket. Respondent continued to keep his hands in the air in the "felony position." (R. p. 28.)

During the suppression hearing, Officer Owens testified that, in his estimation, Respondent had approximately \$1,000 in his pocket. (R. pp. 28-29.) Because Respondent told the officers that he was unemployed, the amount of money in Respondent's pocket alarmed the officers of potential criminal activity. (R. p. 29.) Furthermore, Officer Owens continued to smell alcohol on Respondent even though he was no longer near Respondent's car. Despite the fact the officers told Respondent not to place his hands in his pockets, Respondent placed his hands in his pockets. (R. pp. 30-31.)

Respondent told Officer Owens that he was coming from Lawrenceville, Georgia, which is a suburb of Atlanta, Georgia. (R. p. 32.) According to Officer Owens, Atlanta is a major drug source city. (R. p. 32.) In Officer Owens' fourteen years of experience, approximately 95 percent of the drugs he has found on I-85 came from Atlanta. (R. p. 32.)

Moreover, according to the rental agreement, Respondent was not the one who rented the vehicle he was driving. (R. p. 24; R. pp. 31-33.) According to Officer Owens, a third party rental vehicle is one of the largest indicators of criminal activity. (R. p. 33.) Respondent told Officer Owens that he was on the way to visit his grandmother, which raised Officer Owens' suspicions. (R. pp. 34-35.) According to Officer Owens, most people do not visit their grandparents that late at night. (R. p. 35.) Moreover, the vehicle was rented earlier that afternoon, so Officer Owens wondered why Respondent did not visit his grandmother earlier that day considering Respondent did not have a job. (R. p. 35.)

Thereafter, Officer Owens administered three field sobriety tests to Respondent. (R. pp. 38-43.) Officer Owens concluded that Respondent was not impaired. (R. p. 43.)

Respondent claimed he did not have any weapons, alcohol, or drugs in the vehicle. (R. p. 43.) After Officer Owens administered the field sobriety tests, he asked Respondent for consent to search Respondent's car; however, Respondent refused to give his consent. (R. pp. 43-44.) In fact, Respondent told the officers that he did not want them to search his luggage, which was located in his trunk. (R. p. 44.)

Afterwards, Officer Owens gave Respondent a warning ticket.<sup>2</sup> However, Officer Owens advised Respondent that he was detaining Respondent based on his reasonable suspicion that Respondent was involved in criminal activity. (R. pp. 44-45.) Officer Owens informed Respondent that they had to wait for a drug detection unit to come to the vehicle. Respondent was in an investigative detention; however, he was not handcuffed. (R. p. 46.)

Fifteen minutes later, approximately 31 minutes into the stop, the drug detection unit arrived, and the drug dog alerted to an odor. (R. pp. 45-47; R. p. 69.) The officers searched Respondent's vehicle and found an opened alcoholic beverage under the front passenger seat of the vehicle. (R. pp. 47-48.) Moreover, the officers found two containers of crack cocaine, a semiautomatic weapon, and approximately \$4,000 in the trunk of Respondent's vehicle. (R. p. 48.)

After hearing all arguments, the trial judge denied Respondent's motion to suppress the contraband. (R. p. 89.)

---

<sup>2</sup> According to Officer Owens, most people calm down after he tells them they are only getting a warning for the traffic violation; however, Respondent remained nervous. (R. p. 38; R. p. 53.)

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The Court of Appeals erred in reversing Respondent's convictions and sentences because it misapplied the standard of review used in Fourth Amendment cases and misapplied the totality of the circumstances test used in search and seizure cases. The officer's decision to extend the scope and duration of the traffic stop was reasonable and justified under the totality of the circumstances based on the existence of multiple factors establishing a reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity.**

The majority opinion of the Court of Appeals is flawed for two reasons: First, the majority's opinion misapplied the standard of review in Fourth Amendment cases and improperly reassessed the trial court's specific factual findings. Second, the majority's opinion misapprehended the totality of the circumstances test applied in Fourth Amendment cases.

Officer Owens detained Respondent for a reasonable period of time while he completed the traffic stop and field sobriety test. During the course of the stop, Officer Owens developed a reasonable and articulable suspicion after observing numerous indicators of criminal activity, which led him to extend the duration of the stop to investigate further. The officer's actions during the traffic stop were objectively reasonable under the totality of the circumstances, and Respondent's detention was proper in scope and duration. The trial judge properly denied Respondent's suppression motion, and his ruling is supported by the evidence. Thus, this Court should grant certiorari and affirm Respondent's convictions and sentences.

#### Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to

support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (“[W]e will review the trial court’s ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial court if there is any evidence in the record to support the ruling. State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App. 2005). The appellate court will not reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009).

### Discussion

#### **A. The majority’s opinion misapplied the standard of review.**

First, the State respectfully submits that the majority’s opinion misapplied the standard of review used in Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases.

On August 14, 2013, while the State’s petition for rehearing *en banc* was pending, this Court issued an opinion in State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 747 S.E.2d 453 (2013), in which it held that the expansion of the traffic stop was justified because the officer had a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity was afoot. Notably, similar to the dissent’s opinion in the case at hand, this Court’s opinion in Provet reiterated the importance of its deferential standard of review:

We agree with the trial court and the Court of Appeals that Officer had a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity was afoot, justifying a second seizure. **Moreover, because the record contains evidence that supports the trial court's finding, under our deferential standard of review we must affirm its finding.**

Id. at 112, 747 S.E.2d at 459 (emphasis added).

Thus, regardless of whether this Court agreed with the trial court's decision that reasonable suspicion existed to justify the expansion of the traffic stop, this Court pointed out that it had to affirm the trial court's ruling because the record contained evidence that supported the trial court's decision. See Id.

Further, in response to Provet's arguments that there were several factors indicative of innocent travel, this Court stated: "While we agree these facts could be found to weigh against Officer's reasonable suspicion, **that determination was for the trial court**, and we **must** affirm when any evidence in the record supports its finding." Id. (emphasizes added). Moreover, this Court expressly rejected the proposition that the officer's subjective determinations could taint an objectively valid seizure. Id. at 113, 747 S.E.2d at 459. Instead, this Court reemphasized that its standard of review required it to affirm the trial judge's ruling if there was any evidence in the record to support the trial judge's finding. Id. at 112, 747 S.E.2d at 459.

As the dissent correctly pointed out in this case, "the trial court made specific factual findings regarding observations it found to be significant, focusing on two key facts – the 'large sum of wadded money in [Moore's] pocket' and Moore's explanation that he was driving to his grandmother's house at 1:00 a.m." Moore, 404 S.C. at 645, 746 S.E.2d at 358. Notably, these two factual findings were supported by the evidence. (See R. pp. 28-29; R. pp. 34-35.) During the suppression hearing, the officer testified that he

saw Respondent pull out a large wad of money from his pocket. (R. pp. 28-29.) Because Respondent informed the officer he was unemployed, the large wad of money in Respondent's pocket raised the officer's suspicions. (R. p. 29.) The majority dismisses this factor by stating that the officer "had no way of determining the total amount of cash in [Respondent's] pocket, and it could have consisted of one dollar bills or one hundred dollar bills. Thus, this fact does not reasonably contribute to his reasonable suspicion." Moore, 404 S.C. at 644, 746 S.E.2d at 357. This statement by the majority illustrates the majority's misapplication of the appellate court's limited standard of review. As the dissent properly pointed out, "[t]he majority's decision expressly disregards this standard of review as to these key facts. First, the majority improperly reassesse[d] the significance the officer placed on the money found in [Respondent's] pocket." Id. at 645, 746 S.E.2d at 358.

Additionally, the majority disregarded its standard of review when it trivialized the trial court's specific factual finding regarding Respondent's explanation that he was on the way to his grandmother's house at 1:00 a.m. (R. pp. 34-35; R. p. 89.) The trial judge found that Respondent was "less than truthful about the purpose of his trip." (R. p. 89.) As the dissent properly pointed out, "we are not permitted to simply ignore this finding." Id. at 647, 746 S.E.2d at 359.

The State respectfully submits that the majority simply disagreed with the trial judge's conclusion and applied a de novo standard of review.

**B. The majority's opinion misapplied the totality of the circumstances test.**

Second, the State respectfully submits that the majority's opinion misapplied the totality of the circumstances test that is used in Fourth Amendment cases.

The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. This guarantee protects against unreasonable searches and seizures, including those involving only a brief detention. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 97, 623 S.E.2d at 847. “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). Thus, only unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”).

For Fourth Amendment purposes, a traffic stop of a vehicle, along with the detention of individuals during the stop, constitutes a seizure. State v. Maybank, 352 S.C. 310, 315, 573 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ct. App. 2002). While the Fourth Amendment requires a stop to be reasonable under the circumstances, a traffic stop is reasonable per se when probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred. State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 598, 571 S.E.2d 703, 707 (Ct. App. 2002). The reasonableness of a stop or detention “is measured in objective terms by examining the totality of the circumstances.” Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 39 (1996). “[A] minor traffic violation arrest will not be rendered invalid by the fact it was a ‘mere pretext for a narcotics search.’ ” State v. Corley, 383 S.C. 232, 240, 679 S.E.2d 187, 191-192 (Ct. App. 2009) (citations omitted). “Subjective intentions play no role in ordinary, probable-cause Fourth Amendment analysis.” Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 813 (1996).

Once a lawful traffic stop is initiated, an officer may order the driver out of the vehicle and “may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer

check, and issue a citation.” Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 847 (citing United States v. Sullivan, 138 F.3d 126 (4th Cir. 1998)); see also Muehler v. Mena, 544 U.S. 93, 100-101 (2005) (instructing additional questioning during a detention unrelated to the original purpose of the detention does not constitute an additional seizure or independent Fourth Amendment violation). Such an investigatory stop must be temporary and last no longer than necessary to effectuate its purpose. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 848; see also United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328, 336 (4th Cir. 2008) (“The maximum acceptable length of a routine traffic stop cannot be stated with mathematical precision. Instead, the appropriate constitutional inquiry is whether the detention lasted longer than was necessary, given its purpose.”).

Even if a traffic stop is initially lawful, the detention “can become unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete [its] mission.” Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 407 (2005); see Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 848 (“Once the purpose of that stop has been fulfilled, the continued detention of the car and the occupants amounts to a second detention.”). However, a further detention extending the scope of a traffic stop beyond its original purpose is not automatically unconstitutional. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 99, 623 S.E.2d at 848. Instead, continued questioning beyond the duration of an initial traffic stop is lawful and permissible where: (1) the officer has a reasonable articulable suspicion of other illegal activity; or (2) the traffic stop becomes a consensual encounter. Id.

Reasonable suspicion consists of “‘a particularized and objective basis’ that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641, 644, 486 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411,

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