ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JAN 21 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to Spartanburg County
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

ASHLEY EUGENE MOORE,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002309

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

DAYNE C. PHILLIPS
Assistant Public Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S.C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

CARMEN V. GHANJEHSANI
Richardson Plowden & Robinson, P.A.
1900 Barnwell Street
Columbia, S.C. 29201
(803) 253-8692

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT.

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly held the Trial Court erred in refusing to suppress the evidence found in the vehicle Respondent was driving at the time of his arrest where: (1) the officer's continued detention of Respondent exceeded the scope of the traffic stop and constituted a seizure for purposes of the Fourth Amendment; and (2) the evidence presented by the State did not establish that the officer had reasonable and articulable suspicion of a serious crime when he chose not to conclude the traffic stop.

The State contends that the Court of Appeals majority misapplied the standard of review in Fourth Amendment cases and misapprehended the totality of the circumstances test applied in Fourth Amendment cases. "On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, this Court applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error. However, this Court reviews questions of law de novo." State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014) (internal citations and quotations omitted). The reviewing Court must ask first, whether the record supports the trial court's assumed findings, and second, whether these facts support a finding that that the officer had reasonable suspicion of a serious crime to justify continued detention. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 523, n. 5, 698 S.E.2d 203, 206, n. 5.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals noted that Moore concedes that the initial stop was legal, leaving the issue "whether Officer Owens developed a reasonable, articulable suspicion that Moore was trafficking drugs at the time he intended to issue the warning citation such that the continued detention was unlawful." App. 244. The Court of Appeals further noted that the Trial Court placed heavy emphasis on "Moore's trip from Morganton to Lawrenceville to Marion" in finding that reasonable suspicion existed. App. 244. The majority determined that this finding was not supported by the evidence and thus was not a valid factor considered by the officers. App. 244-45. Therefore, they evaluated the remaining factors to determine if there was reasonable suspicion under a totality of the circumstances, only one of which was specifically referenced by the Trial

Court in its findings. App. 245. The other specific factor referenced by the Trial Court was that an unemployed person was carrying a large amount of cash in their pocket. App. 246. The Court of Appeals found that because the officer did not know the amount of cash held by Moore, “this fact does not reasonably contribute to his reasonable suspicion.” App. 246. The Court of Appeals ultimately held that under the totality of the circumstances the facts relied upon by Officer Owens did not provide reasonable suspicion of a serious crime and there was no consent to the search. App. 246.

This Court should uphold the Court of Appeals’ decision where the Court of Appeals correctly applied the established law of Fourth Amendment cases to the facts of this case and found that there was no evidence to support the Trial Court’s finding of a reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity to justify the further detention of Moore such that Moore’s convictions should be reversed.

I. The Continued Detention of Moore Exceeded the Scope of the Traffic Stop and Constituted a Seizure for Purposes of the Fourth Amendment

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. “[T]he underlying command of the Fourth Amendment is always that searches and seizures be reasonable.” Wilson v. Arkansas, 514 U.S. 927, 931 (1995). The Fourth Amendment is applicable to the States through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961).

Traffic stops are reviewed under the standard set forth in Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), because a traffic stop is more analogous to an investigative detention than a custodial arrest. See United States v. Rusher, 966 F.2d 868, 875 (4th Cir. 1992). Consequently, Terry

outlines a two-prong test for analyzing the constitutionality of a traffic stop: (1) whether the police officer's action was justified at the inception of the traffic stop; and (2) whether the police officer's subsequent actions were reasonably related in scope and duration to the circumstances that justified the stop. Rusher, 966 F.2d at 875.

As to the scope component of the second prong, “the investigative methods employed should be the least intrusive means reasonably available to verify or dispel the officer’s suspicion in a short period of time.” Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500 (1983) (plurality opinion). With regard to the duration component of the second prong, a traffic stop may become “unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete [its] mission.”⁴ Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 407 (2005); see Royer, 460 U.S. at 500 (noting the scope of a seizure “must be carefully tailored to its underlying justification,” and that the government bears the burden to “demonstrate that the seizure it seeks to justify . . . was sufficiently limited in scope and duration to satisfy the conditions of an investigative seizure”).

Furthermore, temporary detention of individuals during a traffic stop by police, even if only for a brief period and for a limited purpose, constitutes a seizure of the persons within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. See Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 809–10 (1996); see also United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) (noting the Fourth Amendment's protection against “unreasonable searches and seizures” extends to “brief investigatory stops of

⁴ See State v. Corley, 383 S.C. 232, 241, 679 S.E.2d 187, 192 (Ct. App. 2009) (noting during a traffic stop, “the police may briefly detain and question a person upon a reasonable suspicion, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity”; “[t]he scope and duration of [this investigative] detention must be strictly tied to and justified by the circumstances that rendered its initiation proper”; and normally, this permits an officer to attempt to obtain information confirming or dispelling the officer's suspicion), *aff'd as modified*, 392 S.C. 125, 708 S.E.2d 217 (2011)).

persons or vehicles”). “As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.” Whren, 517 U.S. at 810.

However, a traffic stop typically ends when the police officer has “no further need to control the scene, and inform[s] the driver and passengers they are free to leave.” Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323 (2009); see United States v. Sullivan, 138 F.3d 126, 132 (4th Cir. 1998) (finding the test for determining if a particular encounter constitutes a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment is “whether, under the totality of the circumstances surrounding the encounter, a reasonable person in the suspect’s position would have felt free to decline the officer’s requests or otherwise terminate the encounter”). Accordingly, “[o]nce the purpose of that stop has been fulfilled, the continued detention of the car and the occupants amounts to a second detention.” State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 99, 623 S.E.2d 840, 848 (Ct. App. 2005); see State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 522-23, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205-06 (2010) (finding “the officer’s continued detention of Tindall exceeded the scope of the traffic stop and constituted a seizure for purposes of the Fourth Amendment”). “Lengthening the detention for further questioning beyond that related to the initial stop is acceptable in two situations: (1) the officer has an objectively reasonable and articulable suspicion illegal activity has occurred or is occurring; or (2) the initial detention has become a consensual encounter.” State v. Provet, 391 S.C. 494, 706 S.E.2d 513 (2011) (citing State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 99, 623 S.E.2d at 848).

In the present case, the extension of the traffic stop for an additional fifteen to sixteen minutes waiting for and then conducting the K-9 search lengthened the detention such that the officer must have either an objectively reasonable and articulable suspicion of illegal activity or

consent.⁵ This issue was not contested by the State at the Court of Appeals. In fact, the State's Respondent's Brief at the Court of Appeals, rephrased the issue to "The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the illegal narcotics discovered during a traffic stop because *the officer's decision to extend the scope and duration of the stop* was reasonable and justified under the totality of the circumstances based on the existence of multiple factors establishing a reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity." Therefore, where the State did not contest that the duration of the initial traffic stop was extended before the Court of Appeals, it cannot raise the issue before this Court. TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 617, 503 S.E.2d 471, 474 (1998) ("An issue conceded in a lower court may not be argued on appeal.").

Additionally, despite its discussion of the duration of the stop in its Petitioner's Brief to this Court,⁶ the State again admits that the initial purpose of the stop ended when Officer Owens issued the warning citation and that the continued detention of Moore is only justified, in the present case, *if the officer has reasonable suspicion of serious criminal activity*. Petitioner's Brief, p. 19 ("Approximately fifteen minutes into the stop, Officer Owens decided to further detain Respondent after issuing the warning citation. Officer Owens' decision to extend the stop was based on his [claim of] detection of ... indicators of criminal activity while he was preparing the citation and completing the stop. . . ."); see State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 99, 623 S.E.2d at 848.

To the extent this Court does review this issue, there was a temporal extension of the stop, which would have concluded after approximately sixteen minutes but instead lasted an additional fifteen to sixteen minutes for the K-9 officer to arrive and conduct a drug sniff. The purpose of the

⁵ There is no evidence of consent in the present case.

⁶ The State's references to duration may be referring to the length of the initial stop after which the officer issued the warning citation, the duration of which is not disputed.

traffic stop was accomplished when Officer Owens found that Appellant was not impaired⁷ and had informed Appellant that he would receive a warning citation. R. 61, l. 4 – 63, l. 8; R. 68, l. 6 – 72, l. 3; R. 78, l. 1 – 80, l. 14; see Tindall, 388 S.C. at 522, 698 S.E.2d at 205 (finding the purpose of the traffic stop was accomplished when the dispatcher reported no problems with Tindall’s driver’s license and vehicle, and the only remaining task was the issuance of the warning ticket, and a continued detention occurred when the officer questioned Tindall for approximately six to seven minutes *after* the purpose of the stop was accomplished).

Similar to United States v. Digiovanni, 650 F.3d 498, 508-09 (4th Cir. 2011), Officer Owens “definitely abandoned the prosecution of the traffic stop and embarked in another sustained course of investigation.” (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). It is clear that Officer Owens was conducting a drug investigation and not a traffic violation, particularly when Officer Owens continued to detain Appellant for an additional fifteen minutes after the purpose of the traffic stop was accomplished to have a drug dog conduct a periphery sniff of the vehicle. R. 72, ll. 1-16; (DVD of traffic stop). Notably, Appellant told Officer Owens that there were no weapons, alcohol, or drugs in the vehicle before Officer Owens called for the drug dog. R. 68, ll. 19-22.

Accordingly, Officer Owens’ “continued detention of [Appellant] exceeded the scope of the traffic stop and constituted a seizure for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment” because a reasonable person in Appellant’s position “would not have felt free to terminate the encounter.” See Tindall, 388 S.C. at 522-23, 698 S.E.2d at 205-06; accord Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323;

⁷ Officer Owens testified that he conducted three field sobriety tests on Appellant and ultimately found that Appellant was not impaired: “*I feel like it would [have] been an injustice to [Appellant] if I had arrested him for driving under the influence.*” App. 102, 6-11; App. 106, 1-3; App. 114, 11-14 (emphasis added).

United States v. Sullivan, 138 F.3d at 132.

II. The Court of Appeals Correctly Found that the Evidence Did Not Support a Finding that the Officer Had Reasonable and Articulable Suspicion of a Serious Crime When He Chose Not to Conclude the Traffic Stop.

A. The Court of Appeals Applied the Correct Standard of Review

The State contends that the Court of Appeals' majority opinion misapplied or misapprehended the standard of review.

On appeals from a denial of a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, the appellate courts of this State apply a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. at 521, 698 S.E.2d at 205. This deference, however, does not bar appellate courts from conducting their own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence. Id. The appellate courts will affirm if there is any evidence to support the trial court's ruling. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). The reviewing Court must ask first, whether the record supports the trial court's assumed findings, and second, whether these facts support a finding that that the officer had reasonable suspicion of a serious crime to justify continued detention. Tindall, 388 S.C. at 523, n. 5, 698 S.E.2d at 206, n. 5.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the evidence did not support the Trial Court's finding that reasonable suspicion was supported by dishonesty regarding the purpose of Moore's trip when Moore drove the car from Morganton, North Carolina to Lawrenceville, Georgia, and was now headed Marion, North Carolina, "a long way round to visit your grandmother." App. 244-45. The State incorrectly argues that the Trial Court focused on Moore's explanation that he was driving to his grandmother's house at 1:00 a.m. in finding that reasonable suspicion existed. This is not a

complete and accurate statement of the Trial Court's finding for his ruling. Instead, the Trial Court, in denying the motion to suppress, stated:

In particular, the problem I have with the or the facts that are revealed by the rental agreement indicate the rental in North Carolina on the evening, afternoon before the stop was made at one o'clock in the morning. I have my doubts that the car was driven from Morganton [North Carolina] to Lawrenceville [Georgia] and back to Marion [North Carolina] to visit a grandmother. That's a long way to go around to visit your grandmother. Morganton and Marion is a much shorter trip.

So, it appears that he may have been less than truthful about the purpose of this trip.

App. 148, 8-17.

As the majority properly held, there was no evidence in the record to support this finding by the Trial Court, constituting clear error. While the rental agreement may have indicated that the car was rented by a third-party in North Carolina that afternoon, Officer Owen's testimony indicates that that he believed that Moore was traveling from Lawrenceville, Georgia to North Carolina. App. 93, 1-4; App. 91, 3-4. The officer noted that it was third-party rental, but made no reference to its rental in North Carolina. App. 90, 21-23. In fact, though Officer Owens later testified at trial that the rental agreement shows the car was rented in North Carolina, his testimony at the suppression hearing was that the vehicle was rented in Georgia. Compare App. 93, 1-4, with App. 169, 17-24. This indicates that Officer Owens was not aware that the vehicle was rented in North Carolina at the time of the stop; in fact, he was not aware of it until the solicitor pointed out that fact to the court in argument. Thus, any inconsistency between the rental agreement and Moore's statements could not have factored into the officer's objective determination of "reasonable suspicion" because they were not known to the officer during the traffic stop.

Additionally, even if the officer had observed that the car was rented in North Carolina, there is no evidence that Moore was the individual who actually drove the car from North Carolina

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